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Introduction

The writer was asked by Ian Calvert of Scottish Woodlands to carry out an archaeological survey of a proposed WGS at Killiehuntly Farm.  This report outlines the findings of this survey and offers mitigation work to protect the recorded remains.

Survey method

A desk-based survey of available records in the Highland Council Sites and Monuments Record was followed by an examination of earlier OS maps of the area held in Highland Council Archive Service and available sources held in Inverness Reference Library.

A walkover survey was carried out on the 26th April in warm dry conditions.  The circumference of the whole area was walked but the higher slopes of Meall Buidhe       were not examined.  As anticipated the surviving archaeology was concentrated on the more favoured ground to the north around Baileguish and Coranstilmore.

Archaeological and Historical Background

Apart from a nineteenth century sheepfank no longer recorded to the S of Coranstilmore, no archaeological features have been previously recorded within the survey area.  Prehistoric settlement has not been recorded in the vicinity though roundhouse sites have been recorded to the N near Insh and more generally within selected areas within Badenoch.  A possible burial cairn has been recorded near Tolvah but this may be a natural feature.

In the medieval period the lands here formed part of the powerful Comyn family and on their demise, the lands passed to the Earls of Huntly in 1451.  The family was granted the more familiar title of Duke of Gordon in 1684.   While large areas were run as hunting reserves in particular the forests of Gaick and Brae Feshie, the lands in this area had been cleared for settlement by the beginning of the 17th century as a document of 1603 refers to Keillehuntlye, Corearnistaill Moir and Corearinstaill Beige.

The farms at this time would have been run as townships with the land held in runrig units. Roy’s Military Survey dating to c1750 shows at least 5 buildings at Coresanstolmor and 8 at a place possibly called Lynovragie, sited about where Site 6 was later recorded.  Between these two settlements was extensive rig cultivation which also continued on the west bank of the Aldmor. There was no record of settlement at Baileguish or Luibean Ruadh, though Tomfadh was also shown.  This survey showed the tree cover as already lost both around Allt Mor and Allt chomraig, whereas a scattering of trees was recorded up Glenfeshie and parts of Glentromie.

By the time of the first available census, it seems that while the township system still existed and there was no record of shepherds on the farms listed below, there had been a tendency for the farms to become concentrated in single hands. 

	1841 CENSUS
	
	

	HOUSEHOLD
	OCCUPATION(of head  of household)
	NAME

	Killyhuntly
	2 masons

1 cooper

5 agricultural labourers

1 carpenter

2 shoemakers

1 army pensioner

1 blacksmith

1 merchant grocer

1 female labourer

1 farmer?
	

	Coranstilmore
	1 farmer
	James Macpherson

	Coranstilbeg
	1 farmer
	Ewan Clark

	Tom Fadh
	1 agricultural labourer
	

	Balguish
	1 agricultural labourer
	George Macpherson

	Lubanriach
	1 agricultural  labourer

1 handloom weaver
	Donald Kennedy

James McEdward


By the time of the 1851 census this trend had become accentuated with a reduction in the size of the township at Killiehuntly.  The agricultural labourers were probably employed as temporary workers by Malcolm Macpherson and only had cottars rights to land.  Unfortunately the location of the only shepherd at Loine was at a place that could not be identified.  From its position in the register, it seems to lie between Balguish and Cornastilemore but this may be a clerical accident.  There was apparently an uninhabited house at Cornastilemore, though only one house was listed here in the 1841 survey.

	1851 CENSUS
	
	

	HOUSEHOLD
	OCCUPATION
	NAME

	Killehuntly Farm
	
	Alex Macpherson

	Killehuntly Farm house
	Farmer of 200 acres
	Malcolm Macpherson

	About Killehuntly Farm
	3 agricultural Labourers

2 spinning/knitting

1 crofter

1 labourer
	

	Easter House of Balguish
	Farmer of 20 acres
	William Bell

	Wester House of Balguish
	Agricultural Labourer
	George Macpherson

	Loine  (site not known)
	Shepherd
	Duncan Gow

	1 house uninhabited
	
	

	Cornasdale More Farmhouse
	Farmer of 36 acres
	Ewan Clark

	1 house uninhabited
	
	

	Lubanrie 
	Retired Carrier

(son a gaelic teacher)
	Alex Clark


By the time of the 1871 census only Balguish and Coranstilmore were recorded.  The former had the same residents, though John Macpherson was now described as a farmer of 20 acres and 1200 moor. Coranstilmore  was no longer described as a farm as the householder, John Macdonald was listed as a shepherd.  It is probable that the sheepfolds shown on the OS map of 1872 had been built by this date.  

Results of archaeological survey

As anticipated the surviving archaeology, apart from Site 11, was concentrated at the north of the survey area.  The remains are consistent with 18th/early 19th century farming settlement cleared for sheep farming in the mid 19th century.  No evidence was found for prehistoric or medieval occupation and it is unlikely any such remains lie buried under the surviving remains, as the soils are thin and actively disturbed by rabbits.  

Coranstilmore shows an interesting development from a small township of probably turf walled longhouses with its own corn-drying kiln. This was superseded by a sheep farming that included a circular sheepfold, which was in turn replaced by a late 19th century fank and now without any building.   This sheepfold was possibly built at the same time as the surviving example just outside the survey area at Baileguish and may point to a deliberate reorganising of the land into sheep farming tenancies in the mid 19th century.  This is evident from the first OS plan of 1872 which shows the sheeepfold as extant and the buildings at Coranstilmore roofed at the south end of the present fank.  The reorganisation of this farm into a fank and the demolition of the sheepfold had occurred by the time of the second OS survey.

Recommendations

The longhouses and corn-drying kilns are reasonably well-preserved and though not unique to the area deserve protection from forestry planting.  The areas requiring protection are a relatively small part of the proposed plantation, apart from the enclosure recorded at Site 11.  Specific  recommendations are listed with each site.  In some cases, particularly the corn- drying kiln at Site 6., these may be best protected by adjusting the fence line and this may be an option for the sites recorded to the south and east of Coranstilmore.  As is recommended below, Site 6. could possibly  be retained as a defined block of trees rather than being left unplanted

Jonathan Wordsworth

16th May 1999

(nb.
The historical search is not presented as definitive information as only certain sources were examined and no searches wee made later than 1871.  The census records were examined on microfilm and as the writing was badly faded in places, the transcriptions may be incorrect.  It is likely that the basic evidence for a switch from Coranstilmore to Balguish in the mid 19th century remains correct.)

APPENDIX

GAZETEER OF SITES

Site No:


 1.   

NGR:


NN 8159 9755

Site Description:

   c40m N of the Allt Dubhaig and 42m E of an existing plantation is a substantial piece of drystone dyking at least 12m long by 0.5m high by c1.5m wide. It is aligned NNE/SSW.  It extends further S as a visible bank 2m wide by 0.5m making a total length of 20m and may perhaps have continued as a turf bank to the burn.  There is no trace of a continuation on the other side or along the bank of the burn, nor of it continuing further N.  There is perhaps a return wall at the N end to the E  for perhaps 5m sugesting this could be part of an enclosure, but the eevidence for this is very slight.  The width of the wall suggests it may belong to a building which would explain the lack of walling either to the N or the S but does not explain why no return walling was noted running parallel to the recorded stretch.  Whatever the function of this walling, it is likely to have formed part of  the settlement of Luibean Ruadh. 

Recommendation:
The isolated and truncated nature of this piece of walling  means that protection of this feature is a low priority.  However if it is possible to leave a space of 5m clear of this wall unplanted, this would be desireable.

Site No:


 2.  

NGR:


NN 8265 9714 – NN 8271 9728

Site Description:

   Opposite a small burn entering Allt Mor from the SE is a low drystone wall forming either either an enclosure or an exclusion zone for stock c10m W of the Allt Mor.  It is visible for c55m and may possibly have continued a further 80m, though the edge of the bank is naturally stony here.

Recommendation:  A strip 
of ground alongside the burn should be left unplanted extending 10m to the W of the dyke.

Site No:


 3.   

NGR:


NN 8269 9725

Site Description:

c100m from the SW corner of dyke Site 2. And 14m to the W are the drystone footings of a round ended building aligned NNE/SSW.  Its  footings are no more than 0.2m high suggesting it whad originally been turf walled.  It measures 12m by 4.5m and could have been a dwelling house, store or barn, perhaps forming part of a small croft or cottars holding. 

Recommendation:
This should be left unplanted with a 20m exclusion zone, as per the Forestry Commission Guidelines, linked to that of Sites 2. and 4.

Site No:


 4.   

NGR:


NN 8270 9731

Site Description:

At the N end of the dyke or rather where it is no longer visible, c20m from the burn is an enclosure also aligned NNE/SSW.  It measures 20m by 16m with a low drystone footing visible.  The bank is most visible on the E side.  Rigs 2m wide lie N/S in the enclosure.  It is c125m from the N of the enclosure to the bend where the new fence boundary is proposed.

Recommendation:
As with Sites 2. and 3. This should be excluded from the planted area.with a 20m exclusion zone.

Site No:


 5.   

NGR:


NN 8276 9751

Site Description:

   A short stretch of drystone walling c3m long lies on the W bank of the Allt Mor to the S of the enclosure and corn-drying kiln at Site 6. The river at this point flows over a fast rocky channel.  Originally this was thought to be the remains of a clack mill but the 1872 OS map shows a footbridge at this point

Recommendation:
The visible remains are all sited on the W bank and so no archaeological deposits are threatened.  However the proposed fence line is shown right against the bank of here and it might be appropriate to bring the line 10m further to the E to preserve the setting of this site.

Site No:


 6.   

NGR:


NN 8276 9760

Site Description:

   26m SE of the fine drystone circular fank is a corn-drying kiln aligned WNW/ESE.  The central chamber is 5m diameter and at least 1m deep with a flue chamber c2.5m long.  There is an additional chamber to the E measuring 6m long and up to 0.5m deep.  All 3 chambers lie within a single building or kiln barn.  Another building 5m by 3.5m and up to 1m deep lies 2m to the S, though no sign of walling is evident.  Some slight rabbit damage has occurred in the westernmost section of the main kiln barn.  The whole complex is defined by a drain cut at least 4m to the S and E, as shown in the photograph.

Recommendation:
This should be left out of the planted area either by a 20m exclusion zone extending from the edge of the ditch or by adjusting the fence line to avoid this site entirely.  The latter option is to be preferred as this will prevent damage to the structure during the construction of the  fence.

Site No:


 7.   

NGR:


NN 8309 9810

Site Description:

   60m S of the bridge over the small burn at Coranstilmore are the remains of a circular drystone sheepfank 22m in diameter.  The S side is best preserved and the N is virtually non-existent.  Shown on the OS map of 1872, it was presumably robbed to construct the present fank at Coranstilmore which is considerably altered from the plan recorded in 1872.  

At the SW of of the sheepfold is a rectangular hollow 11m by 6m, probably the remains of a longhouse robbed in its turn to supply stones for the fank.  To the W of this probable structure are the collapsed remains of a corn-drying kiln measuring 7m by 4m and also aligned E/W.  The chamber of the kiln hs been filled in.

20m to the E of the fold is a possible rectangular building platform of indeterminate size  

Recommendation:
This area should be excluded from the proposed planting with a 20m exclusion zone.

Site No:


 8.   

NGR:


NN  8308 9813

Site Description:

   On the flatter ground S of the track and 28m N of the fold are the footings of a longhouse aligned E/W measuring 14m by 5m.  12m to the N of this is another longhouse aligned NE/SW measuring 10m by 5m with a possible extension 9m long to the S.    These appear to be the robbed out remains of a dwelling and barn abandoned long before 1872.  The walls were probably robbed to supply stone for the fank, though it is likely these were turf-walled buildings with stones only for footings.

Recommendation:
This area should be excluded from the planting, either by adjusting the fence line or by leaving a 20m exclusion zone, linked to Sites 7. and  9.
Site No:


 9.   

NGR:


NN 8318 9816

Site Description:

   On a slight knoll overlooking Coranstilmore and lying to the N of the modern track are the remains of a long narrow longhouse aligned N/S and measuring 15m by 3m.  At the N end is another longhouse aligned NE/SW measuring 11m by 3m.

Recommendation:
These 2 buildings should be left unplanted with a minimum exclusion zone of 20m, possibly linked to Sites 7. and 8.

Site No:


 10.   

NGR:


NN 8288 9760

Site Description:

   This site, lying to the N of an unmarked vehicle track running E from the sheepfold near Site 6., may be the remains of a longhouse sturucture.  It is aligned NW/SE and measures c8m by 3m.  It has been badly disturbed by rabbits and there is a modern cut or drain running from the centre to the S.

Recommendation:
This is not certainly identified as a structure and has, in any case, been too badly disturbed to justify protection.

Site No:


 11.   

NGR:


NN 8390 9630 

Site Description:

   The building shown here was not shown on earlier OS maps, though it has clearly been abandoned for a number of years.  It measures 13m by 5m and is aligned E/W, possibly sloping down to the W.  The walls of drystone survive up to 0.5m high and are mostly large boulder footings.  However on the W end the stones are smaller and survive up to 3 courses high with a quantity of tumble to the E.  

The S wall forms part of a large irregular enclosure at least 250m long N/S and stretching across both sides of the Allt  na Caoleig.  Apart from a short stretch of drystone walling near the building, the majority of the walling was of turf construction, now slumped to a max height of 0.3m and a width of c2m.  A ditch was dug externally.  Part of the enclosure diappears into the modern polantation to the E.

The building was probably a byre, perhaps connected with settlement at Tom na Fhada.  However it could possibly be a small cottar’s or cofter’s holding, created separate to Baileguish or Tom na Fhada.

Recommendation:
The building should remain unplanted with the standard 20m exclusion zone.  The enclosure should remain as a landscape feature within the propoed plantings.  Thi may require the walls of the enclosure to be left unplanted for perhaps 5m.  The interior of the enclosure could be treated as a separate planting block or differentiated by the selection of a tree species that would favour the more fertile soils within the former enclosure.

Care must be taken during planting operations to prevent vehicles causing damage to the slight and fragile walls of the enclosure.

Site No:


 12.   

NGR:


NN 8197 9768 

Site Description:

   The enclosure marked here was not recorded either because of surveyor error or because it was of post and wire construction which has been removed.

Recoommendation:
As this lies outside the area of the proposed plantation, no protection needs to be given to this nebulous feature.

